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in operation through the remainder of the twentieth century before closing in 2008. 

Today, partially as the result of the creation of the Harpers Ferry National Historical Park in 

1963, the town of Harpers Ferry is one of the few intact representative examples of early- 

to mid-nineteenth century towns in West Virginia. Each year, nearly 500,000 visitors 

explore the Harpers Ferry National Historical Park, which serves as an interpretive center 

for the history of John Brown and other factors which led to the beginning of the Civil 

War.1 Additionally, Harpers Ferry serves as the national headquarters for the Appalachian 

Trail Conservancy, and is the home of the National Park Service’s Artifact Conservation 

lab.  

 

As part of the Historic Resources Plan, resource assessments were completed for the 

armory dwellings, barbershop, and hotel building. These assessments are based upon the 

2008 Oehrlein & Associates reports and include historical background, building 

description, construction history, condition assessment, and recommended rehabilitation 

scopes of work, as well as updated condition assessments and recommended 

rehabilitation scopes of work which reflect the existing conditions of the resources as of 

2018.  

 

The overall site assessment portion of the Historic Resources Plan focuses on issues related 

to the site and landscape of the hotel property. Past archaeological investigations on 

the property are discussed as part of this assessment. This section also presents an 

assessment of the site’s potential as a cultural landscape and presents recommendations 

for retaining important landscape features.   

The final chapter in the Historic Resources Plan synthesizes recommendations for the 

treatment and preservation of contributing resources within the hotel property. Updated 

recommended rehabilitation scopes of work for five armory dwellings, the barbershop, 

and the hotel building are presented in this section. Additionally, this section of the Plan 

summarizes recommendations for future archaeological and cultural landscape 

assessments.  

 

                                                
1 Harpers Ferry National Historical Park, “Your Dollars at Work,” National Park Service, April 10, 2015, 
https://www.nps.gov/hafe/learn/management/yourdollarsatwork.htm, accessed April 2, 2018.  
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African-American families in town, the Lovetts ran multiple boarding houses and were 

early supporters of Storer College. Established in 1867, Storer would serve as the only 

institution in West Virginia to provide secondary and post-secondary education to African 

Americans for the next 25 years.10 The Hill Top House Hotel opened in 1888 as a three-story 

frame building.11 There is evidence that building materials salvaged from the dismantling 

of the armory, particularly sandstone fence caps, were utilized in the construction of a 

low stone wall along the southern portion of the lot.12  

By 1898, the Lovetts had made several improvements to the property, including the 

construction of a four-story stone addition to the hotel and the erection of a dance 

pavilion northwest of the hotel. An 1898 Spirit of Jefferson article noted that the new stone 

addition would include bath tubs with running hot and cold water and electric lights, 

both amenities which were rare for area hotels at the time. The Hill Top was considered 

by far the most modern and luxurious in Harpers Ferry and drew a great deal of business 

as a result. Business was so lucrative that in 1904, for the first time, the Lovetts chose to 

keep the hotel open all winter and construct a new dining room addition. In 1905, a 

steam heating plant was constructed to serve the hotel in the winter months. 13  

The western half of the Hill Top House Hotel was destroyed by a fire in December of 1912, 

after which it was rebuilt, this time entirely from stone masonry, in time to receive guests 

for the summer of 1913. Inspired by a concept drawing completed by the architectural 

firm of Ernest C. S. Holmboe and Robert C. Lafferty, the new building utilized the remaining 

stone walls of the original hotel and featured three stories and a tower on the southeast 

corner. The hotel was once again badly damaged by fire in June of 1919. Reconstruction 

began the following month. Historic maps and aerial photography images indicate that 

the two-story stone lodge building was constructed to the south of the hotel c. 1919. In 

1926, the Lovetts sold the property to Fred McGee.14 Tourism had begun to decline, 

particularly with the rising popularity of the automobile, and Island Park, which the Hill Top 

overlooked, fell into disrepair. Despite this trend, visitors to the Hill Top Hotel continued to 

return. In 1959, Dixie Kilham bought the hotel, which was later purchased by William 

Stanhagen.15 

By the 1950s, Harpers Ferry was struggling to maintain its allure as a tourist attraction and 

had been host to a long line of failed business ventures, devastating fires, and floods. 

Seeing the largely-abandoned town as an opportunity for education and interpretation 

of John Brown’s raid and Civil War history, the National Park Service began to acquire 

large portions of the town in the mid-1950s. In 1963, the Harpers Ferry National Historical 

                                                
10 Bailey, Ethnographic Overview and Assessment, 27.  
11 Sheila R. Crane, “Morrell House,” Written Historical and Descriptive Data, Historic American 

Buildings Survey (Washington, D.C.: National Park Service, U.S. Department of the Interior, 1995), 

28.   
12 Lee, Armory Historic Resource Study, 93. 
13 Crane, “Morrell House,” 26.  
14 Walton Danforth Stowell Jr., “Hill Top House,” e-WV: The West Virginia Encyclopedia, January 

17 2013, accessed April 4 2018, https://www.wvencyclopedia.org/articles/377.  
15 Stowell Jr, “Hill Top House.” 
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Park was designated and opened to the public. While tourism in the town never again 

reached the heights that it enjoyed in the late nineteenth century, the creation of the 

Park helped to bring new visitors to Harpers Ferry. Presumably driven by an increased 

demand, a new, three-story wing of hotel rooms was added to the lodge building at the 

Hill Top Hotel in the 1970s. The Hill Top Hotel continued to operate year-round until 2008, 

when it was permanently closed due to structural deficiencies. These deficiencies are 

explored in Part 3 of this report.  

 

Bailey, Megan. Ethnographic Overview and Assessment: Harpers Ferry National Historical 

Park. Washington, D.C.: National Park Service, 2017.  

Crane, Sheila R. “Morrell House.” Written Historical and Descriptive Data, Historic 

American Buildings Survey. Washington, D.C.: National Park Service, U.S. 

Department of the Interior, 1995.   

Harpers Ferry Planning Commission. National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form: 

Harpers Ferry Historic District. Harpers Ferry: 1979. 

Lee, Andrew S. The U.S. Armory at Harpers Ferry Historic Resource Study. Harpers Ferry: 

Harpers Ferry National Historical Park, 2006. 

Lewis, Lynn C. “The Lovett History.” Spirit of Jefferson Farmer’s Advocate, February 14, 

2008. 

Stowell Jr., Walton Danforth. “Hill Top House.” e-WV: The West Virginia Encyclopedia, 

January 17, 2013. Accessed April 4, 2018, https://www.wvencyclopedia. 

org/articles/377. 

Rasmussen, Barbara. NRHP Nomination: Harpers Ferry Historic District, Amendment. 

Harpers Ferry, WV: Division of Culture and History, 2010.  



Hill Top Hotel Historic Resources Plan 

Harpers Ferry, WV May 2018 

 
 

 

 Page 2.6 

The Hill Top Hotel site and its surrounding properties are important resources that help to 

define the historic character of Harpers Ferry. The hotel building, armory dwellings, and 

streets each play a role in understanding the history and character of the site.   

While Potomac, Shenandoah, and Washington Streets have been in place since the 

earliest development of the armory at Harpers Ferry, the grid of secondary north-south 

streets, laid out in the mid-1850s, also represent an important character-defining feature 

of the town. Currently, East Ridge Street and Columbia Street are within the boundaries 

of the Hill Top Hotel property. According to some historic maps of the area, the Hill Top 

Hotel site contains the northernmost terminus of Lancaster Street, a “paper street” which 

was named and surveyed but never graded and opened due to its steep, rocky 

topography. Because Harpers Ferry was laid out in a grid pattern with little consideration 

for topography, similar undeveloped “paper streets” are located throughout the town.16 

The 2013 Comprehensive Plan for Harpers Ferry calls for an evaluation of paper streets for 

future development, including the creation of mini-parks or stormwater drainage systems. 

Because this portion of Lancaster Street was never graded or opened, it does not retain 

significant character-defining features that contribute to the overall historical 

significance of the town or the Harpers Ferry Historic District. East Ridge Street and 

Columbia Street, also located on the property, maintain their historic alignment but have 

been subject to repaving and other routine maintenance activities that have 

compromised their integrity of materials and workmanship. Today, these streets maintain 

integrity of location, design, setting, and association.  

The five Armory Dwellings on the Hill Top Hotel property are thought to have been built 

roughly between 1827 and 1837. The dwellings located on Lots 1, 2, and 3 of Block E follow 

the same basic layout and are constructed of brick. These buildings are significant for 

their association with the operation of the armory and are examples of government-built 

housing. Each of these buildings are considered contributing resources to the Harpers 

Ferry Historic District. Originally, all three residences had gable roofs; however, today, the 

roof of the dwelling on Lot 3 has been replaced with a modified shed roof. New windows 

and doors have been added to some of these buildings, but in general, they all maintain 

integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association.  

The duplex dwelling located on Lot 5 of Block E features log construction not seen 

elsewhere on the parcel. Although the exact construction date of the building is not 

known, its unique method of construction raises the possibility that it may predate the 

other armory dwellings. Built as a single-story two-room residence, the building was 

expanded over the years with the construction of a stone kitchen wing to the north, a 

connecting addition between the log and stone sections, and a second story. Wood 

                                                
16 Barbara Rasmussen, National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form: Harpers Ferry Historic District, 

Amendment (Harpers Ferry: 2008), Section 7 Page 1. 
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clapboard sheathing was added to the entirety of the building, further obscuring the 

original construction. This resource is significant for its association with the armory 

operation at Harpers Ferry and is unique in that it may have been purchased from a 

former owner, rather than built, by the government for use as worker housing. Despite 

extensive alterations, this building is considered a contributing resource to the Harpers 

Ferry Historic District. Today, most of the west half of the building is heavily deteriorated 

or missing; however, the extant (east) half of the building maintains integrity of location, 

design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association.  

The armory dwelling located on Lot 1 of Block F was constructed in 1837 and, at one time, 

housed the superintendent of the armory. The dwelling is significant for its association with 

the operation of the armory at Harpers Ferry, and is considered a contributing resource 

to the Harpers Ferry Historic District. Sanborn maps indicate that the rear wing was 

originally an open porch at the first level and an enclosed sleeping porch at the second 

level. Today, the entire wing is enclosed and serves as part of the house. The brick used 

in the turret on the southwest corner features different characteristics from that used 

throughout the rest of the house, suggesting that this may be a later addition. A set of 

steps which lead from the ground level to the front porch also appear to be a later 

addition. Despite these alterations, the building retains integrity of location, design, 

setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association.  

The building located on Lot 6 of Block E, known commonly as the Barbershop, was 

constructed between 1859 and 1868. Constructed as a residence and later partially 

converted for commercial use, this building is significant for its association with the early 

residential development of Harpers Ferry and for the twentieth-century commercial 

development of the town. This building is considered a contributing resource to the 

Harpers Ferry Historic District. A one-story porch was originally situated on the north side 

of the building; however, by 1933, this was removed, and a small single-story extension, 

still in place today, was added to the east. With the partial conversion of the building 

from residential to commercial use, the western portion of the first level front elevation 

was reconfigured to allow for two large storefront windows with bulkheads and a central 

recessed entry door. Although these storefront windows are not in keeping with the 

original historic character of the building, they have gained historical significance in their 

own right. Today, this building retains integrity of location, setting, materials, workmanship, 

feeling, and association.  

The Hill Top Hotel, originally constructed in 1888, served as a landmark and center of 

tourism in Harpers Ferry for over a century, despite being nearly destroyed by fire in both 

1912 and 1919. The building is significant for its association with early tourist activity in 

Harpers Ferry after the closure of the armory, as well as for its association with famous 

patrons such as Woodrow Wilson, Mark Twain, and Alexander Graham Bell. Additionally, 

this building is significant for its association with the Lovett family, who were among the 

first landowning African American families in Harpers Ferry. The hotel is considered a 
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contributing resource to the Harpers Ferry Historic District. The exterior of the hotel building 

has undergone several renovations and additions that have almost completely obscured 

its historic character, and deterioration has led to the partial loss of sections of the 

building (See Chapter 3, Resource Assessments). The interior of the building also features 

very little in the way of historic features such as original flooring, plaster walls, and molding 

due to continued renovations and replacements of these elements through the mid to 

late twentieth century. Although the building retains integrity of location, setting, 

materials, and association, the integrity of design, workmanship, and feeling have been 

compromised, largely as a result of deterioration and settlement.  

The lodge building, located south of the hotel, was constructed c. 1919. Additions to the 

building have almost entirely obscured its original historic character. While this building 

shares an association with the hotel, a series of additions and alterations through the 

twentieth century have compromised the historic integrity of the building, and it is 

considered a non-contributing resource to the Harpers Ferry Historic District. As it is not 

considered a contributing element, the lodge building is not addressed as part of this 

Historic Resources Plan.  
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Figure 1. View of Magazine Hill prior to 1888. Courtesy Dan Riss.  
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Figure 2. Map of Harpers Ferry in 1859. Courtesy WV Division of Culture and 
History.  
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Figure 3. Map of Harpers Ferry in 1859. Courtesy Accessible Archives.  
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Figure 4. Sanborn map of Harpers Ferry in 1894 showing in-use streets. 
Courtesy WVU Libraries, West Virginia and Regional History Center.  

  


